| Electronically Filed   |
|--|
| IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NW 3/AD242015 03:37 p.m  Tracie K. Lindeman                         |
| Clerk of Supreme Cour JERALD R. JACKSON, TRUSTEE OF Supreme Court No. 67289                              |
| THE JERALD R. JACKSON 1975  ) Ninth Judicial District Court Case   |
| TRUST, AS AMENDED; AND IRENE ) No. 08-CV-0363-E M. WINDHOLZ, TRUSTEE OF THE )                            |
| IRENE M. WINDHOLZ TRUST )  |
| DATED AUGUST 11, 1992,   |
| Appellants, )  |
| )<br>vs.   |
| )  |
| THE STATE OF NEVADA STATE ) ENGINEER; EDWARD H. )  |
| GROENENDYKE, TRUSTEE OF THE )  |
| GROENENDYKE FAMILY TRUST,  |
| Respondents.   |
|  |
|  |

# I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

# A. Jurisdiction of the District Court.

The District Court obtained jurisdiction pursuant to the provisions of N.R.S. 533.165 when the Nevada State Engineer's Final Order of Determination was filed with the District Court, on October 28, 2008.

### **B.** Jurisdiction of This Court.

The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Decree and Judgment were entered in this matter on September 29, 2014. At the time, all prior orders entered by the District Court, including its order of December 26, 2013, became final. Notice of Entry of the Judgment was given by mail on October 16, 2014. Appellants' Notice of Appeal was filed and served by mail on November 14, 2014. The appeal is timely, and this Court has jurisdiction over it pursuant to Nev. R. App. Proc. 3A(b)(1) and N.R.S. 533.200.

### II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal was docketed in the Supreme Court on December 12, 2014, prior to the issuance and effective date of this Court's December 18, 2014 Order adding Rule 17 to the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure. Therefore, this matter is retained by the Supreme Court.

### III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether the District Court's finding that the predecessors-in-interest to current owners of lands within an area referred to as "Green Acres" directly diverted water from a spring located in California, "Spring (A)", and placed such directly diverted water to beneficial use on those lands at least prior to 1914 is clearly erroneous.

B. Whether, even if those predecessor owners of Green Acres lands acquired a right to water under the common law of California or Nevada directly from Spring (A), that right was acquired by prescription by the owners of land referred to as the "Berrum-Heritage Ranch" prior to 1949.

C. Whether, in a proceeding initiated under the provisions of N.R.S. 533.090, *et seq.*, to determine rights to water, a court may also grant the holder of a water right access to the lands of another party.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, Judgment and Decree in this action are the result of a determination, pursuant to the provisions of N.R.S. 533.090 through N.R.S. 533.185, of the relative rights of claimants to waters that flow into the Carson Valley in Douglas County, Nevada from the Eastern Slope of the Carson Range, near the Nevada/California border. Initially, the determination process took place before the State Engineer as provided in N.R.S. 533.090 through 533.160.

Pursuant to N.R.S. 533.140, the State Engineer issued an Abstract of Claims and Preliminary Order of Determination. The Preliminary Order recognized that Appellants ("Jackson") were entitled to vested water rights from Spring (A), Spring (B), Spring (C) and Spring (D) for lands within a portion of the former Berrum-Heritage Ranch. Pursuant to N.R.S. 533.145, Jackson requested clarification on whether the Preliminary Order of Determination established only drain and waste rights from Spring (A) for certain claims related to lands located within an area referred to as Green Acres. Without that clarification, Jackson objected because there was no evidence of a vested right to water from Spring (A) for those properties.

Pursuant to N.R.S. 533.165, the State Engineer issued a Final Order of Determination, which was filed with the Clerk of the District Court. In that Final Order of Determination, the State Engineer determined that certain Green Acres lands were entitled to water from Spring (A) as a direct diversion, and that it was the intent of the Preliminary Order of Determination to describe Spring (A) as "a direct diversion" for those Green Acres properties. 1AA 32.<sup>1</sup>

Pursuant to N.R.S. 533.170, exceptions to the Final Order of Determination were filed with the District Court, and at an April 1, 2009 hearing, the Court

The abbreviation "AA" refers to Appellants' Appendix, which, with the exception of some very large exhibits, might constitute a Joint Appendix. The Appellants' Appendix consists of 5 volumes.

divided the exceptions and objections to the State Engineer's Final Order of Determination into six subparts, Subparts A through F, so that exceptions related to a common water source would be heard together and separate from exceptions to other water sources. 2AA 279. This appeal involves only Subpart E, the "Springs Arising on the West Side of Foothill Road on the Heritage Ranch."

The exceptions filed by Jackson and Respondent Edward H. Groenendyke, Trustee of the Groenendyke Family Trust ("Groenendyke") were directed primarily at the determination that certain of the Green Acres lands were entitled to a direct diversion of water from Spring (A). 2AA 240-247; 300-302. In addition, on September 21, 2012, Groenendyke filed a supplement to the exceptions, and among others, a motion for access to the Jackson lands for purposes of repairing a pipeline from Spring (A). 2AA 311-318. Jackson opposed that motion. 2AA 339-358.

The Court held a pretrial conference in this matter on October 10, 2012, and scheduled a hearing to hear and resolve those exceptions. 2AA 309-310. A field investigation was held on November 7, 2012, and pursuant to N.R.S. 533.170, an evidentiary hearing was held on November 30, 2012 concerning the issues involved in this appeal. 2AA 359-378; 3AA 379-518.

On December 26, 2013, the District Court entered an order resolving the exceptions to the State Engineer's Order of Determination. The Court adopted the

State Engineer's Final Order of Determination as it pertains to Spring (A). 4AA 772. The Court based its findings on several grounds. First, it concluded that a 1905 culture map and aerial photographs taken in 1938, 1939-1940 and 1954 illustrated homogenous vegetation and equivalent vegetative and irrigation patterns within Green Acres and the Berrum-Heritage Ranch. *Id.* 773-774. Second, it determined that certain comingling of water from Spring (A) with water from Spring (D) was not necessary to irrigate the properties, and would constitute a waste of water. *Id.* 773-774. Finally, it concluded that it was possible to divert water from Spring (A) to the Green Acres parcels. *Id.* 775. Based upon those findings, the Court overruled Appellants' exceptions to the Final Order of Determination.

In addition, the Court ordered that "the Jackson Trustees are to allow the Groenendyke Trustees reasonable access to water facilities affecting the Groenendyke property but located on the Jackson property." 4AA 777. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment and Decree were entered on September 29, 2014, and this appeal followed.

#### V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

# A. Background.

This appeal arises under the provisions of N.R.S. 533.090, et seq., and involves the determination of relative rights of claimants of "vested water rights"

to various creeks, springs and other sources of water beneficially used in Douglas County, Nevada. Those provisions of Nevada's water law allow the State Engineer, initially, and the District Court, ultimately, to determine the relative rights to the use of that water.

# B. The Foothill Road Springs, Green Acres and the Berrum-Heritage Ranch.

This matter involves "Springs Arising on the West Side of Foothill Road on the Heritage Ranch" (the "Foothill Road Springs"). The Foothill Road Springs are referenced in the Final Order as Spring (A)<sup>2</sup>, Spring (B), Spring (C) and Spring (D). Those springs are shown on the Unnamed Springs Reference Guide, Figure 1. Add. 2.<sup>3</sup> Spring A originates on and is located in California on National Forest land. 1AA 23-24; 3AA 422. Springs (B), (C) and (D) all originate in Douglas County, Nevada. 1AA 24. The land on which they originate was once known as the "Berrum Ranch," and later became a portion of a larger ranch known as the "Heritage Ranch" (collectively, the "Berrum-Heritage Ranch"). 1AA 13; 215-218. In addition, there are two other water sources involved here, "Unnamed Creek," which receives water from a spring source on property referred to as the "Hill Property," and Miller Creek. 3AA 433; 1AA 226-227; 229.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Spring (A) is often referred to as "Unnamed Spring (A)" in the District Court's Order and also in the State Engineer's Final Order of Determination.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The abbreviation "Add." refers to the Addendum which is a part of this Brief. The Addendum includes maps, illustrations and statutes relevant to this appeal.

The lands involved here are portions of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch and lands referred to as Green Acres. The Jackson property is the portion of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch located west of Foothill Road.<sup>4</sup> 1AA 13; 218. The Groenendyke property is a portion of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch east of Foothill Road. *Id.* 218. Green Acres is north of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch, and for purposes of this appeal, consists of 19 smaller parcels and are all east of Foothill Road. *Id.* 

The Berrum-Heritage Ranch and Green Acres are shown on Figure 4, "Heritage Ranch Place of Use." Add. 4. They are also shown on the map of the entire adjudication. Add. 1. On Figure 4, the Berrum-Heritage Ranch and Green Acres parcels have a number on them which corresponds with the "Proof of Appropriation" filed for that parcel pursuant to N.R.S. 533.125. The Berrum-Heritage Ranch parcels on the west side of Foothill Road include 06342, 06343, 06344 and 06345. The Berrum-Heritage Ranch parcels on the east side of Foothill Road include 08850 (Groenendyke) and 06323 and 06321. Add.4; 1AA 218. The Green Acres parcels include 06322, 06325, 06327, 06328, 06329, 06330, 06331, 06333, 06334, 07486, 09264, 09265, 09266 and 09270. Add. 4; 1AA 218.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Foothill Road can be seen on Add. 1. It shows only as "Road" on Add. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This map includes a north-south arrow, and when used in combination with Figure 4, Add. 4, is helpful in locating and understanding where these lands are in relation to one another. Those, coupled with Figure 1, Add. 2, also allow the reader to determine the location of these lands in relation to the various springs.

The primary dispute here involves rights to Spring (A). Spring (A) is improved at its source in California with a spring box and two buried pipelines. One pipeline is a 6" pipeline, and the other is a 2" pipeline. Both pipelines take the entire surface flow of Spring (A) south and east across National Forest lands, lands owned by David and Shelia Hill, and then onto the portion of the former Berrum-Heritage Ranch located on the west side of Foothill Road. 2AA 351-353; 3AA 438-443. Once on the Berrum-Heritage Ranch, the "2" Pipeline Diversion" takes the water to the Berrum home for domestic use, and also to the Berrum-Heritage Ranch barn area on the east side of Foothill Road for livestock water. 3AA at 422-423; 442.

Historically, the "6" Pipeline Diversion" split in two directions at a valve which may have been on the Hill property or a portion of the former Berrum-Heritage Ranch. The valve could direct the water to flow east into Unnamed Creek where the water was used to irrigate a portion of the former Berrum-Heritage Ranch owned by Groenendyke, and which is also east of Foothill Road. 1AA 24; 88-89; 3AA 443. The valve could also direct the water to the south where it is commingled with water from Spring (B) and is used to irrigate a portion of the former Berrum-Heritage Ranch on the west side of Foothill Road. 1AA 77. It appears that the valve may have been non-functional for a period of time. Sometime during the pendency of this matter before the State Engineer, the valve

9 10

11 12

13

1415

16

17

18

19 20

21

2223

24

25

26

2728

and wooden pipe was replaced to allow water from Spring (A) to again directly reach the Groenendyke property east of Foothill Road. 3AA 442-443; 463-464.

When the valve which allows water to flow to the portion of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch east of Foothill Road is closed, the water can be directed further south where it is commingled with water from Spring (D). 3AA 423; 428; 436. The commingled Spring (A) and Spring (D) water is used to irrigate land on the east side of Foothill Road. Id. That water can be directed under Foothill Road and into a diagonal or "bisecting" ditch, and delivered to the "South Green Acres Ditch" for irrigation of Green Acres parcels. 3AA 436-437. It can also be directed under Foothill Road into the Black Bear Trail Ditch where it is used to irrigate portions of the former Berrum-Heritage Ranch owned by Groenendyke and two other parties. Both the Black Bear Trail Ditch and the South Green Acres Ditch terminate in the Fredericksburg Ditch. Id. 441. A schematic which illustrates those flows is Figure 2, "Heritage Ranch Spring Area Schematic." Add. 3. The Fredericksburg Ditch is shown on the adjudication map and also on Figure 4.6 Add. 1; 4.

Water used to irrigate the portions of the former Berrum-Heritage Ranch on the east side of Foothill Road flows in a northeasterly direction. Run-off from the Berrum-Heritage Ranch historically flowed onto the Green Acres lands, and now

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> On Figure 4, it shows up as "CKSBURG" in the upper left corner.

into the South Green Acres Ditch. 3AA 422. As the State Engineer witness explained, "they irrigate one pasture at a time, capture the water, release it, once the upper pasture is irrigated, and then it goes on down through the system." *Id*.

To a large extent, the subdivision of the Green Acres property and two Nevada cases concerning the nature of rights to return flow from the land of another party were at the heart of the State Engineer's and the District Court's determination of who held vested rights directly from Spring (A). See, e.g., 1AA 54-55; 1AA 29; 3AA 397-398; 4AA 770; 773-774. As a result of those concerns, the District Court, recognizing that "although no water from Unnamed Spring (A) is asserted to have been historically diverted to reach the Green Acres parcels directly, the capability to do so exists today as observed during the site visit and is known to have existed historically based upon the early construction of a wooden pipeline allowing the diversion of water from Unnamed Spring (A) toward the east of Foothill Road, thereby allowing the source water to reach the Green Acre parcels if desired," concluded that the Green Acres parcels would be awarded a vested right directly from Spring (A). 4AA 776; 5AA 791; 943.

The exact date when Spring (A) was first diverted into the 6" and 2" Pipeline Diversions is not known. The State Engineer acknowledges that fact, and also admits that such diversions existed sometime before 1938. 3AA 422; 433-434. The Berrum House appears on the 1904 plain table map. 3AA 453. A buried

pipeline would not appear on the plain table map. *Id.* Dorothy Berrum, born in 1900 and interviewed in 1992, stated that the house was built prior to 1890, and always received its domestic water from Spring (A). 4AA 726-727. In addition, when the new portion of the 6" Pipeline Diversion taking water to the Groenendyke Property east of Foothill Road was installed, it replaced a wooden pipeline. 3AA 463-464.

Without the 2" and 6" Pipeline Diversions in place, water from Spring (A) would have flowed naturally into Unnamed Creek. In that circumstance, the water would have been unavailable for use on the portion of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch west of Foothill Road, and unavailable to nearly all of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch east of Foothill Road. It would have been available to the Green Acres land.

# C. The Development of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch and Green Acres.

The settlement and development of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch and Green Acres in the 19th century can be seen through a series of patents and deeds. Those patents and deeds show that Green Acres and the Berrum-Heritage Ranch were settled and developed as separate ranches. 3AA 478-490. They were in separate ownership from prior to 1864 until 1916, when they came into common ownership. 3AA 488. That common ownership was separated in 1930 when they were sold to separate owners as separate ranches. *Id.* 489.

topography and other natural features. Four such land patents were issued by the United States to W.H.H. Cary, Edwin R. Cary, Joseph Kirk and William Wyatt. 3AA 521-529. In those patents, the United States conveyed title to property which became Green Acres and the Berrum-Heritage Ranch. After the lands were fully surveyed, a series of eleven deeds, each dated December 10, 1864, show that the recipients of those land patents, and in some instances adjacent landowners under different patents, adjusted the property boundaries between them, from the areas described within the four patents to actually reflect what each had settled and developed on the ground. 3AA 481-482; 4AA 737-761; 764. As of December 11, 1864, the configuration of property owned by W.H.H. Cary was part of Green Acres, and property then owned by Edwin R. Cary was property which became the Berrum-Heritage Ranch. 3AA 487; 4AA 764.

The United States issued land patents in square blocks without regard to

A review of the chain of title for the lands of Edwin R. Cary (the Berrum-Heritage Ranch) and of the lands of William H.H. Cary (Green Acres) shows that at all times from December 11, 1864 through January 24, 1916 the Berrum-Heritage Ranch was owned as a single ranch and separate and apart from the ownership of Green Acres. 3AA 488-489; 530-591; 4AA 592-666. On January 24, 1916, E. Bokelman acquired ownership of both ranches, which was separated again in the same Berrum-Heritage Ranch/Green Acres configuration in 1930.

3AA 488-489. The ranches were separately owned thereafter. 3AA 530-591; 4AA 592-666.

# D. Actions of the Owners of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch and Green Acres During the 20th Century.

Because these proceedings did not begin until 1990, the water rights established under the common law for the Berrum-Heritage Ranch and Green Acres were not recognized by or in any particular official governmental act. In the 1960s, in an effort to make their water rights more secure, the owners of Green Acres, the Martins, and the then owner of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch, McGah, each filed applications to appropriate with the Nevada State Engineer. 4AA 667-672.

In 1968, the Martins filed Application Nos. 24525 and 24526. 4AA 667-670. Application 24525 was for water from Miller Creek. *Id.* 667. Miller Creek is north of Spring (A), and provides water to the Scossa Ranch and also to Green Acres. 1AA 51; 226-227. It provides no water to the Berrum-Heritage Ranch. 1AA 226-227. Application 24526 was for water from Unnamed Creek, the creek into which Spring (A) would flow, were it not for the 2" and 6" Pipeline Diversions. That Application for water from Unnamed Creek did not show Spring (A) as the point of diversion of water from Unnamed Creek. The point of diversion shown for Unnamed Creek is on the east side of Foothill Road. 4AA 669.

In 1969, the Heritage Ranch, McGah, filed Application 24919. 4AA 670-671. That Application, which was ultimately permitted and certificated, was for a diversion directly from Spring (A) by way of the 2" and 6" Pipeline Diversions. *Id.* 671. It was for use on the Berrum-Heritage Ranch. *Id.* The remarks section states that "this system has been in existence almost 100 years and has undergone improvements several times." *Id.* 672.

Thus, at nearly simultaneous times, the owners of Green Acres did not claim water directly from Spring (A), and the owner of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch did claim water from Spring (A). Both Applications were permitted in 1969, and later certificated. 4AA 670; 672.

Matt Benson managed the Berrum-Heritage Ranch from 1964 until 1990, and his son managed it thereafter. In a statement given in 1992, he confirms that water from 2" and 6 Pipeline Diversions from Spring (A) was used exclusively for irrigation, domestic and stock—water purposes—on the Berrum-Heritage Ranch. 4AA 724-725. None of that water was directed to Green Acres. *Id.* Ed Brown, the irrigator on the Berrum-Heritage Ranch for 16 years, confirmed those facts. *Id.* 728. Matt Benson also states that he had spoken to one of the Martins when Application 24526 was pending, and that Martin had confirmed that he was making no claim to water directly from Spring (A). *Id.* 724.

# E. Proofs Filed By or On Behalf of Green Acres Land Owners.

When these proceedings began before the State Engineer, he ordered that claimants file proofs of appropriation pursuant to N.R.S. 533.125. None of the Green Acres land owners who filed proofs of appropriation on their own behalf claimed a right to water directly from Spring (A). 4AA 673-723. All of their proofs claimed a right to water from Miller Creek and Unnamed Creek. 4AA 673; 677; 680; 684; 688; 692; 696; 700; 704. Their proofs do recognize that at times water from the 6" Pipeline Diversion was directed into Unnamed Creek necessitating a "split" of Spring (A) water and Unnamed Creek water. *See, e.g.*, 4AA 675-676.

Proofs were filed by the State Engineer under N.R.S. 533.125 on behalf of four Green Acres land owners. Those proofs claimed a right to water from Miller Creek and Unnamed Creek. 4AA 708-723. None of those proofs refer to Spring (A). The only parties who filed proofs claiming vested rights directly from Spring (A) were Jackson, Groenendyke and the Prather Family Trust, whose lands are portions of the Berrum-Heritage Ranch. 1AA 77; 88-89; 67.

# F. The Court's Order.

The Judgment and Decree recognizes that Jackson holds vested water rights from Spring (A) (06342); Spring (B) (06343); Spring (C) (06344); and Spring (D) (06345). 5AA 841-844. The water rights are for irrigation, stockwater and domestic uses. It also recognizes that Groenendyke holds vested water rights from

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