IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Jul 27 2015 11:49 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

JERALD R. JACKSON, Trustee of the JERALD R. JACKSON 1975 TRUST, AS AMENDED; and IRENE M. WINDHOLZ TRUST DATED AUGUST 11, 1992,

Appellants,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA STATE ENGINEER; and EDWARD H. GROENENDYKE, Trustee of the GORENENDYKE FAMILY TRUST,

Respondents.

CASE NO. 67289

District Court Case No. 08-cv-0363

RESPONDENT STATE ENGINEER'S ANSWERING BRIEF

ADAM PAUL LAXALT
Attorney General
Bryan L. Stockton
Senior Deputy Attorney General
Nevada Bar No. 4764
100 North Carson Street
Carson City, NV 89701-4717
bstockton@ag.nv.gov
Tel. (775) 684-1228

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The evidence showed that Spring A water was diverted to the Green Acres property through the natural channel, known herein as Unnamed Creek. Jackson

can use water from Spring A and Springs B and D. These springs produce more water than Jackson needs to irrigate his property. Jackson appears to bring this appeal only to deny vested water rights to the down gradient properties in Green Acres who are on the original watercourse.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Substantial Evidence Supports the District Court and State Engineer's Factual Findings and the District Court's Decision.

i. Green Acres Properties Have Vested Water Rights

The District Court and the State Engineer relied on substantial evidence to conclude that the parcels in the Green Acres subdivision had vested water rights to water from Spring A. Prior to parceling, the Green Acres properties were irrigated as a single ranch. AA Vol. 3, pp. 421-425. At certain times in the past, the Green Acres, Heritage Ranch and Barrum Ranch were held in common ownership. AA Vol. 3, p. 489. The State Engineer found that the "culture maps from the U.S. Geological Survey show homogenous vegetation on the parcels of land that make up the Heritage Ranch and the Green Acres subdivision prior to 1905." AA Vol. 1, p. 32. These maps were created in the field using surveyor's tools and reflect some of the best available evidence of the practices taking place at the time. AA Vol. 3, p. 413. Aerial photographs from 1938, 1954 and 1977 confirm the findings from the 1904 cultural map. AA Vol. 1, p. 26; SEA pp. 2–4.

"Substantial evidence is that which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Dynamic Transit v. Trans Pac. Ventures*, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 69, 291 P.3d 114, 118 (Dec. 12, 2012) (citations omitted). The existence of the water right is a question of fact, and these maps provide substantial evidence to find that the Green Acres properties had acquired vested water rights.

Steve Walmsley from the Division of Water Resources testified that he had been examining maps such as those presented "ever since [he] got out of college in '78 " AA Vol. 3, p. 422. Mr. Walmsley testified that 1904 cultural map showed the irrigation of all the properties in question was "pretty much homogenous." AA Vol. 3, p. 421. He also testified that the pattern of irrigation was consistent with historical irrigation patterns for the Carson Valley. AA Vol. 3, p. 421-422. When examined about the 1938 aerial photograph, Mr. Walmsley testified that "the patterning did not show a deficit of water anywhere." AA Vol. 3, p. 430, ll. 22–23. Mr. Walmsley testified that the 1954 aerial photograph showed only changes consistent with development, but no significant changes to irrigation patterns. AA Vol. 3, p. 432. The court "must accord deference to the point of view of the trial judge since he had the opportunity to weigh evidence and evaluate the credibility of witnesses-an opportunity foreclosed to this court." Harris v. Zee, 87 Nev. 309, 311, 486 P.2d 490, 491 - 492 (1971).

///

The question of whether the Green Acres properties have a vested water right from Spring A is a question of fact. The facts available to the district court are limited to show the appropriation of water in 1853. However, substantial evidence supports the decision of the district court and that decision must be affirmed.

ii. Substantial Evidence supports Spring A as the Source of the Vested Rights

Part of the task of the State Engineer was to determine the source of the vested water rights discussed above. Spring A originates in Alpine County, California. The California Water Resources Control Board indicated to the Nevada State Engineer that "there's no way to use it beneficially in the State of California . . ." and that Nevada would have jurisdiction over the use of the water. AA Vol. 3, p. 439.

The natural channel created by the spring quickly crosses the border into Nevada and continues down until it intersects Foothill Road directly across from the entrance to the Green Acres subdivision. *See* AA Vol. 1, p. 216. Jackson admits that the water would flow and could be delivered in this manner and notes that "water runs downhill." Jackson Opening Brief (JOB) p. 25.

Jackson argues that the 2" and 6" pipe divert water from Spring A away from Green Acres and onto the Barrum Ranch. JOB at 25. There is no doubt that Jackson's Barrum Ranch property was entitled to a water right from Spring A and

the State Engineer approved the vested claims. AA Vol. 1, p. 145. However, the substantial evidence also showed, in addition to water in the natural water course, that the water from Spring A diverted through the 6" pipe, was returned via the diagonal ditch across the upper portion of the Heritage Ranch Property and delivered to the Green acres property. AA Vol. 3, p. 437. The pipeline has and had a valve that is northwest of the Barrum Ranch House that allowed the water to be diverted to the Barrum house property or continue in a southerly direction to commingle with Unnamed Spring D. AA Vol 3, p. 452. The opening of the valve allowed the Spring A water to continue in the Unnamed Creek and go beneath Foothill Road where it is used to irrigate 12.43 acres in the northwest corner of the Groenendyke property under Proof of Appropriation No. V-08850. AA Vol. 3, p. 448. The water then continues to flow to the east in the South Green Acres ditch to irrigate acreage within the Green Acres Subdivision. AA Vol. 3, p. 347. Thus, water for irrigation was diverted by and put to beneficial use on the Green Acres property and the most direct source was Spring A. This substantial evidence supports the findings of the district court and the decision must be upheld.

iii. Over-Allocation to the Barrum Ranch

The State Engineer also found that Springs B and D produce ample water to irrigate the remaining properties of the Barrum and Heritage Ranches and that combining those sources with all of the Spring A water would have resulted in

excess water that the early settlers could not afford to waste. AA Vol. 1, p. 30. The district court recognized that the use of the term "waste" in this context meant "that water is available far in excess of duty for all the property that has rights to that water, what – I don't want to call it waste any more" AA Vol. 3, p. 505. In this context waste simply meant that Jackson should not be able to divert more water than can be beneficially used on his property. Neither could Jackson defeat the vested water rights for the Green Acres property by claiming more water for his property than could be put to beneficial use.

The State Engineer found that:

water from Unnamed Spring (A) is not necessary for the irrigation of the 25.54 acres lying south of the diagonal ditch under this claim and Proofs V-06321 and V-06323 based on prior findings within the scope of this objection to the Preliminary Order of Determination. The State Engineer further determines that the commingling of Unnamed Spring (A) with Unnamed Spring (D) directs excessive water onto lands irrigated by the claims referred to in this paragraph.

AA Vol. 1, p. 30. Jackson's reasons for opposing the vested rights of the Green acres properties are not clearly stated in the opening brief, but the State Engineer notes that the reason for the 1992 field investigation was the "Jackson Pond." AA Vol. 1, pp. 28-29.

Staff of the State Engineer's Office has observed that the construction of the pond near the southeast corner of the Jackson property precludes the ability to divert water

through the headgate and existing culvert that routes water through the "bisecting ditch" through the Groenendyke property.

AA Vol. 1, p. 28. Thus, until Construction of the Jackson Pond, water was routed through the bisecting ditch and returned through the diagonal ditch on the Heritage Ranch that routes water to the Green Acres parcels. AA Vol. 3, pp. 434–437.

"The concept of beneficial use is singularly the most important public policy underlying the water laws of Nevada and many of the western states." *Desert Irrigation, Ltd. v. State Engineer*, 113 Nev. 1049, 1059, 944 P.2d 835, 842 (1997). "Beneficial use shall be the basis, the measure and the limit of the right to the use of water." NRS 533.035. The State Engineer included the following order in the Final Order of Determination:

The Engineer therefore orders State the reconstruction of the headgates and distribution The design and construction plans of the diversion/distribution structures are subject to the approval of the State Engineer prior to commencement of construction.

AA Vol. 1, p. 29 (emphasis in original). Jackson's motive for defeating the water rights may be to avoid restoring the diversion works that he damaged during construction of the Jackson Pond and to use the water in the pond. However, the State Engineer and district court relied on the evidence that Spring D produces ample water for the Herritage Ranch to support the findings already made based on the maps and agricultural practices in the area and must be affirmed.

iv. Prior Claims Filings Do Not Preclude Green Acres Vested Rights

Finally, Jackson argues that the Green Acres property owners did not file claims for water from the springs and that his predecessor in interest did. However, this very fact is part of the situation in Carson Valley that led to the adjudication itself. There were a number of vested water rights determined in the decree for which no prior right was formally established. As noted by Jackson the State Engineer is required to consider rights that have not filed proofs of claims:

Upon neglect or refusal of any person to make proof of his or her claim or rights in or to the waters of such stream system, as required by this chapter, prior to the expiration of the period fixed by the State Engineer during which proofs may be filed, the State Engineer shall determine the right of such person from such evidence as the State Engineer may obtain or may have on file in the Office of the State Engineer in the way of maps, plats, surveys and transcripts, and exceptions to such determination may be filed in court, as provided in this chapter.

NRS 533.125(2). The purpose of the adjudication is to determine where water was appropriated under the common law in effect at the time these rights were acquired using the best evidence available. NRS 533.090. All the evidence shows that the Green Acres properties in question herein were irrigated with water diverted from the Springs, and that Spring A was the source as the water flowed directly in that direction with the original channel. The State Engineer properly considered the

vested claims of the Green Acres Properties and awarded vested water rights based upon substantial evidence.

B. Acquisition by Prescription Was Not Litigated Before the District Court.

The district court noted that after the stipulations of the parties to settle other issues, the only remaining issue was Jackson's contention concerning

the State Engineer's commingling of water originated from Unnamed spring (A) into Unnamed Creek, there by allegedly redirecting the use of Unnamed Spring (A) from its historical beneficial use and, as a result and in effect, awarding vested water rights to certain downstream claimants.

AA Vol. 51, p. 934. Jackson did not raise the issue of acquisition by prescription of the water rights from the Green acres parcels below. "It is well established that arguments raised for the first time on appeal need not be considered by this court." *Diamond Enterprises, Inc. v. Lau*, 113 Nev. 1376, 1378, 951 P.2d 73, 74 (1997) (citation omitted). There are valid reasons for this policy. The State Engineer was not able to respond, nor was the evidence examined. Jackson's increased use of water came about some time prior to 1993 when he built the Jackson Pond. AA Vol. 1, pp. 28–29. Installation of the pond "precludes the ability to divert water through the headgate and existing culvert that routes water through the 'bisecting ditch' through the Groenendyke property." AA Vol. 1, p. 29. Before the pond was

16

///

installed, water was diverted through the diagonal ditch to the Green Acres parcels.

AA Vol. 1, p. 29.

In 1949, the Nevada Legislature stopped the practice of acquiring the water rights of others by prescription. The provision provided that "[a] prescriptive right to the use of the water or any of the public water appropriated or unappropriated may not be acquired by adverse possession." NRS 533.060(5). The 1954 aerial photograph did not show that the Green Acres properties had been dried up by the actions of the owners of the Barrum Ranch at the time. SEA p. 3.

In addition, the 6" pipe had a valve near the Barrum house that would deliver water across Foothill Road to Heritage Ranch and Green Acres that was cut off by Jackson to divert water to his pond. AA Vol. 3, pp. 434–437. This change also happened long after 1949 and at a time when a "prescriptive right to the use of the water or any of the public water appropriated or unappropriated may not be acquired by adverse possession." NRS 533.060(5).

The application of California law to the water sources would also be inappropriate. The district court heard testimony that the State Engineer's office had been in contact with the California Water Resources Control Board (CWRB). AA Vol. 3, p. 439. The CWRB replied that because the water could not be put to beneficial use in California, they would not exercise control over the source. AA Vol. 3, p. 439.

Finally, even if the Court finds that the Green Acres Parcels are not entitled to water from Spring A, that water cannot be awarded to Jackson to fill his pond to his heart's content. *Desert Irr., Ltd. v. State*, 113 Nev. 1049, 1059, 944 P.2d 835, 842 (1997) ("Indeed, even those holding certificated, vested, or perfected water rights do not own or acquire title to water. They merely enjoy the right to beneficial use."). He is entitled to only the amount of water that was put to beneficial use prior to 1905. *Andersen Family Associates v. Ricci*, 124 Nev. 182, 188, 179 P.3d 1201, 1204 (2008) ("vested' rights are those that existed under Nevada's common law before the provisions currently codified in NRS Chapter 533 were enacted in 1913.")

Prior to the early 1990's, the area that now captures water for Jackson's pond was a swampy area that passed water through and down the system. Jackson cannot increase the amount of his water right based on the recent and higher requirement for water brought on by the construction of the pond. This court should reject these arguments made for the first time on appeal or remand the matter to the district court for further evidence on the issue.

VII. CONCLUSION

Substantial evidence supports the finding that the Green Acres properties have vested water rights and the decision of the district court must be affirmed. Substantial evidence also supports the finding that the source of the water rights

was Spring A diverted through natural channel, and the 6" pipe and a valve near the Barrum House. Jackson did not raise the issue of adverse possession below and the Court should refuse to hear those arguments. If the Court does decide to consider adverse possession, it should note that there is no evidence that the Green Acres properties' water was cut off prior to 1949. For these reasons, the State Engineer requests that the decision of the district court be affirmed.